


THE SIMON CAMERON INDIAN COMMISSION OF
1838.

BY IDA M. STREET.

When we are disgusted with frauds in the execntion o!
government offices, as exposed in the recent investigation
in the post office department, it is somewhat consolatory to
our outraged feelings to make a comparison with the frauds
of previous years and their investigation. We Hke to feel
that we have not grown worse even if we cannot congratulate
ourselves on much improvement. Although a treaty of
nearly seventy years ago with a now almost extinct tribe of
Indians aiay not excite much interest, the connection with it
of a mau once prominent in our politics may arouse curiosity.
For that reason and because I have a little new material to
add from mj grandfather's letters, I have chosen for the
present article the frauds practiced by the first commission
appointed to carry out the provisions of the Winnebai'o
treaty of 1837.

At the time this treaty was made, Joseph Montfort Street,
•who from November, 1S27 to 1836, had been agent for the
Winnebagoes at Prairie du Chien, was agent for the Sacs
and Foxes in Iowa. Bo that his connection with the com-
plaint against the commission was purely accidental. The
true instigator of the investigation was Major Ethan Allen
Hitchcock, then disbursing agent for the War Department,
at St. Louis. I have gathered the facts for this article from
Jitters from Major Hitchcock to J. M. Street, and also to the
War Departmeut at Washington; from letters from Thos.
Street to his father; and from the account of the investiga-
tion as given in public documents for 1838 to 1839.

'November 1, 1887, a delegation of Winnebago Iudians
at Washington signed a treaty with the government in which
they sold to the United States all their lands east of the
Mississippi river. They also agreed not to settle on their
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lands just west of the Mississippi, but to use them only for
hunting and to remove in eight months to the portion of the
"neutral ground" which was conveyed to them in the treaty
of 1832, until they could procure a permanent settlement;
and in another clauBe, the place of the settlement was indi-
cated by the provision for sn exploring party to survey the
lands southwest of the Missouri river.

For this land, in addition to an annuity, the govern-
ment promised to pay two hundred thousand dollars to trad-
ers and others mentioned in the treaty to whom the Indians
were indebted. "To pay, under the direction of the President
to the relatives and friends of said Indians, having not legs
than one-quarter Winnebago blood, $100,000".

Another $90,000 of this $1,100,000 paid for the land was
to be paid in piesents and in provision for a model farm at
the new home of the Indians.

Half the interest of the remaining $700,000 was to be
applied by the President for twenty-two years to education,
the rest of tbe interest to be paid in money and provisions
each year.

July 21, 1838, J. R. Poinsett, Secretary of War, notified
Simon Cameron of Pennsylvania that he had been appointed
a commissioner to examine the claims of lialf-breod relatives
of the Winnebago Indians, as provided by the treaty of
November 1, 1837. He was allowed eight dollars for every
twenty miles traveled from his home to Prairie du Chien by
the most direct route, and eight dollars a day for every day
spent in the execution of his duties. The commission was
requested to meet August 20, at Prairie du Chien. August
1, James Murray of Maryland was appointed as co-commis-
sioner.

The payment of the trader's claims was to be by order
upon the War Department, but the money for the half-breeds
was to be sent to Major E. A. Hitchcock, at St. Louis, who
was to pay that due both the Sioux and the Winnebagoes,
under the direction of the commissioner.



SIMON CAMEBON INDIAN COMMISSION. 117

There were several reasons why this treaty was not plea-
sing to the Indians. They were to make a double move in a
few months; first to the land in Iowa, and then later on
to the country southwest of the Missouri river, which
was practically a desert, and which even white men with all
their ingenuity have been fifty years in making habitable.
The news of this dissatisfaction reached "Washington in indi-
rect ways and the Senate was not very prompt in ratifying
the treaty. Yet it was finally done.

An indication of the cause of dissatisfaction among some
of the traders, is given by the Hon. Henry Merrell, a trader
at Ft. Winnebago, who says in his personal recollections:

The fraudulent treaty of November first, 1837, caused the Gov-
ernment a vast deal of trouble and expense; and very naturally en-
gendered the mosl embittered feelings and recollections on the
part of the Winnebagoes. . . .

General Simon Cameron and General James Murray having been
appointed Commissioners, in the summer of 1838, to divide and pay
out to the creditors and half-breeds of the Winnebago Indians, ac-
cording to the treaty with them, one hundred thousand dollars to
the half-breeds, and *one hundred thousand dollars to the traders,
they repaired to Prairie du Chien for that purpose. Having busi-
ness with them. I went down and found traders and half-breeds as-
sembled there from all parts of the country; from Green Bay, and
from St. Louis to the Prairie. When I got there, I was told that the
Commissioners were in doubt whether they could make the pay-
ment to the traders under their instructions. I stayed there about
two weeks. Still they gave out that they should have to go to
Washington for new instructions. In the meantime, there was a
lawyer by the name of Broadhead, who either came with the Com-
missioners, or followed soon after (I was told he came on witb
them), who proposed buying half-breed claims, and it was notorious
that Mr. Cameron was with him at his office most of the time. The
half-breeds becoming uneasy, and thinking they should not get
anything at this time, made up their minds that they had better sell
than be on expense—it costing them one dollar a day while staying
there^so, many of them sold their claims at from three to four or
five hundred dollars, as they could make a bargain. I made up my
mind finally, from the best information I could get, that they would
not pay any, but would take the papers and go on to Washington for
new instructions. I could see or hear no reason why they could not

*Two R3 showu by the treaty; the CommissioDers speak ot one hundred and
fifty thouBand.
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pay the half-breeds, so I concluded to go home as I had business
pressing there. After I left, I was Informed Governor Dodge went
over to the Prairie, and advised the Commissioners to make pay-
ment on the evidence they had, and they concluded to do so.

The traders had had a meeting among themselves, and passed
upon all claims;* but the Commissioners would not consent to be
ruled by them. I left my papers with the Commissioners, request-
ing a friend, as I supposed, to see to them, if anything was needed,
and went home. In a few days the traders from that region and
Green Bay, etc., came up swearing mad. They said the American
Fur Company had been awarded most of the money; and other
traders, whose accounts were equally well proved, and some much
better, were put off with not to exceed five per cent, of their claims.
Mr. Rouse said to me: "You have been rascally treated. Your
claim was better proven than any there, and you are put off with
less than five per cent.; and not only that, but you will find your
particular friend bas cut your throat." While I was there, it was
the common talk that Cameron and Broadhead were in company;
and it was said when Broadhead paid a half-breed for his claim, the
money was in Middleton, Pennsylvania, biîls, a bank in which Gen.
Cameron was said to have been interested.

The thing was so palpable, as I was informed, that Gen. Street
started for St. Louis, and informed Maj. Hitchcock (I think it was)
of the army, in whose hands the money was, to pay [to be paid] on the
requisition of the Commissioners. So when they made their appear-
ance, he refused to pay them any money, but went on to Washington
and laid the case before the Department. He was justified, and the
acts of the Commissioners were repudiated. Here was an officer
of the army disobeying orders, and taking the responsibility of
doing so, proving thai there was one honest, straight-forward man
ready to run the risk of a dismissal, in vindication of justice and
exposition of rascality.

It was said, whether true or not I cannot say, that Mr. Cameron
declared on the boat going to St. Louis, that he had made sixty
thousand dollars in the transaction; but when he got to St. Louis
I think his ideas must have had a great fall, Next year a Commis-
sioner, I was informed, was sent on, and adopted the other Com-
missioners' report, and all had to submit. So, possibly, there was
but one year's delay in the profits. There was not many but be-
lieved the Fur Company had to bleed freely for getting the award.
This was worse, I consider, than "Credit Mobilier!"!

The report of the commissioners shows that Mr. Mer-
relVs claim was $2,000, and that SlOO was allowed him, and
paid to Satterlee Clarke, Jr., attorney in fact.

*See the report of the Commissiooers, as Quoted in this paper.
Historical CoUectiODs, Vol. VII, pp. 391-S.
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Mr. Merrell's account is erroneous in one particular,
when it says that Mr. Street went down to St. Louis to report
the doings of the commission. What he did do was to bring
up the money for the half-breeds, as a personal favor tO'
Major Hitchcock, and when he found that thecomntissioners
had gone, he wrote to the distributing agent telling what
had been. done. In a letter to Major Hitchcock about this-
matter, dated January 8, 1839, he says: "The information
is, of course, from others., as I never saw the commissionersj-
and my duties with the Sacs and Foxes kept me away
from this [)Iace during the whole time they were here".

His oiSce RB agent for the Saca and Foses was at Eock
Island; but as the quarters there were inadequate for his
family, they remained at the Prairie, where he owned a good
house. In the summer of 1838, he was on the Des Moines river
at the site of the new agency, superintending the breaking of
ground and the erection of buildings, to which he removed
his family in tlie following spring. Both disease and famine
were among the Sacs and Foxes that summer, as his corres-
pondence with Major Hitchcock shows, and in October he
went to St. Louis to see about extra supplies. In his let-
ter of March 12, 183U, to the Commissioner of Indian
Affairs, Major Hitchcock states how he happened to send the
money for the Winnebago half-breeds by Mr. Street:

Gen. street, who is so unworthily referred to by Mr. Murray, was
In St. Louis when It was my wish to send the money to Prairie du
Chien. I requested him to take charge of it. and convey it there.
He was. however, unwilling lo take the hazard of so heavy a charge
in specie. We conversed upon the subject some time, alluding to
the loss by theft of $15,000 in specie, only a few weeks before, at
Prairie du Chien. After maturely considering the subject, I deter-
mined to send the notes of the Bank of the State of Missouri. That
bank was the authorized place of deposit for my public money.
My funds were there in specie. That bank has never refused pay-
ment in specie for her notes, since she went Into operation.

In order, however, to protect the half-breeds, I requested the
cashier of the bank to fiirnlsh me with notes of one denomination.
(2O's) for the whole $100.000. explaining to him that I could not
send the specie for the reason stated above. He accordingly fur-
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nishecî me with $100.000 in 20-dollar notes of Ihe Bank of the State
of Missonri, the specie for which was in the vault of the bank, sub-
ject to the call of whoever might hold the notes.

As iipwaids of $200,000 in specie had but a few weeks before
teen paid by the Indian Department on the Mississippi river. I nat-
urally stippoHed that a large portion would fall into the hands of
traders, who would gladly exchange it for the notes sent for the
Winnebago half-breeds; and the following letters of instruction
wei-e given hy me ¡n reference to the payment of the Winnehago
half-hreeds:

Under date of Oct. Iß. I afidressed Dr. J, C. Re.vno]ds:
"Sir: I send by the hands of Gen. Street, Indian Agent, $100.000

for payment to the Winneljago half-hreeds, imrier the 4lh article of
the treaty of 1S;;7.

"This money will be paid to the part:icnlar individuals who shall
be required by the United States commissioners (Messrs, Murray
and Cameron) for the examination of claims nnder the treaty. You
will please pay the exact amounts required (not exceeding the whole
amount) to the particnlar individuals for whom reqnired, taking
such évidence as is necessary in the payment of annuities.

"It is presumed as much specie can be procured, m exchange for
notes, as will be necessary for satisfying the claims of those who
may be unacquainted with the nature of paper money; for all others,
hills of one denomination (2O's) are furnished; and especial care
will he taken, in all cases, to explain the vahie of the money, and
that it is receivable in the land office,"

To Lieut. McKissack I wrote, under the same date, as follows:
"I have sent, by the hands of Gen. Street, $100,000, to Dr. Rey-

nolds, fcr payment ta the Winnebago half-breeds. Should Dr.
Reynolds have left Prairie du Chien, I request yon co receive from
Gen, Street the money and open the letter In his charge from this
office, to the address of Dr. Reynolds, and execute the instructions
therein contained."

After thus sending Ihe money to be paid at Prairie du Chien. I
was astonished, on the 5th of November, to find Lieut. McKissack
at St, Louis, with the whole amount.

As Mr, Murray (or Mr. Cameron I lays much stress upon my
expressing regrot to Lient. McKissack that the money was not paid
at Prairie du Chien. I must observe that i made the remark alluded
to, not as regretting the non-payment of the drafts of the Commis-
sioner, but I regretted that the half-breeds themselves had not heen
paid. All of my letters and reports on the subject of half-breed
money will show to what my regret referred.

If I had desired the payment of the drafts, it was the expressed
opinion of the commissioners that t not only had authority to make
the payment, but that I was required to make it; and if it was really
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so, wherher my agent paid tbe money at Prairie lUi Chien, or myself
at St, Louis, was a matter of in cliff oren ce.

On the evening of the 5th of November. I called to pay my re-
spects to the Commissioners, who had arrived at St. Lotiis the
same day with the money, bnt in another steamboat. The snbject
of the mode of payment determined upon by the Commissioners was
discussed more than I desireci in a public reading-room: ami I insist
upon il that much argument was then and there wasted, to prove
that Ihe haîf-breeds were disperse<] and could not be found by the
paying agents of the Indian Department,

In the evening of that day I prepared the report of the 6th of
November. I had not, up to that time, heard of any particulars in
relation LO the proceedings of the Commissioners, except that the
mode of payment determined by them set aside the principles which
all my letters will show I deemed indispensable. Your letter of in-
scructions to me of the 20th of November fl8;î8.), approving my con-
duct, will show that I was correct as in that principle.

rnder the impression that this departure from the principle of a
direct payment to the half-breeds might be overlooked by the De-
partment, vmless there shoiiM be reason to fear that the half-breeds
had been duped and cheated, I gave my opinion to the claimants
that the drafts might ultimately be paid; and this fact makes a part
of my letter to the Commissioner of Indian Affairs of the 6th of
November.

My letter of the 7th substantially repeats this; for, by requesting
authority to require bonds from trustees, I virtually intimate my
expectalion of orders to pay the drafts.

I have now to add a few words in explanation of my intercourse
with Gen. Street, which has fallen under the severe censure of Mr.
Murray, It gives me great pleasure to do an act of justice to a high-
spirited, intelligent, and conscientious man, who hag attained years
and respectability, but neither honors nor fortune, in a life spent in
the pulilic service,

II win be recollected that Gen. Street undertook to convey,
and did convey, $100,000 to Prairie du Chien for the Government.
This was an extra-otñcial act; and by this voluntary act, for which
he received no compensation, his passage in the steamship even not
being paid, he saved to the Government not less than $300 or $400,
which it would have cost had I employed a special agent to perform
that service.*'

The commissioners in their report of December l."j, 1S3Ü,
to Mr. Crfiwford, Commissioiier of Intliaii Atïairs. state that
they met Autçust 29th. ae low water prevented their earlier
arrival at Prairie du Chien. Upon their arrival they had

•Es , Doc , 2.itli CdiiK., 3d Sess., p. llf!'.
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published a notice in the various paperB at Dubuque, Iowa,
Mineral Point and Green Bay, Wisconsin, and at Chicago
and Detroit, requiring all persons having claims agdinst the
Winnebago Indians under the 4th article of the treaty of
November, 1837, to present them.

The words of the report are as follows:
Very soon after its publication (the notice) we learned from

many creditors of the Indians at Prairie du Chien that it would be-
impossible to furnish the evidence required by the Department, that
it was then a matter of deliberation among them, whether it would
be expedient or not to file their claims before us; and jt was the
last day limited by the notice that a large proportion of the claims
were presented.

It was soon apparent to us, that if we required proofs of the-
sale and delivery of particular articles to the Indians, nothing could
be done, and that we should have to return home without effecting
the objects for which we were sent to the country, and thus leave a
large body of angry claimants among the Indians, who were already
a good deal excited upon the subject of the treaty, and who could,
as we were informed, influence them to any course they might, think
proper.

It became necessary, therefore, to examine, if it would be pos-
sible, by a liberal interpretation of the instructions, to effect the ob-
ject of our mission and do substantial justice to the parties con-
cerned.*

The report goes on at length to explain that as tha
Indian traders—with one or two exceptions—did not or
could not keep books, they could not follow otit the instruc-
tions of the Indian CommissionerB at Washington.

So they adopted a plan suggested by the creditorsf who
held a meeting to adjust their claims among themselves. In
accordance with the plan they took testimony of the capital
employed by different traders, the amount usually sold on
credit, and the proportion of credits generally remaining
unpaid. They say:

The examination satisfied us that about one-half of the sales
were geneiaily made on credit, of whicb from one-half to one-third

»Ex. Doc, 25th Cong,, 3d Seas., p. 151.
•f-Mr. Merrell stated that they disregarded the Bugnestion of all tbe traders. Tliia

must have been a meeting of the Am. Far Co. traders alone.
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were never received; and we adopted this proportion, as coming
nearer the truth than any other, and were strengthened in our
opinion of its fairness from finding that it accorded with the view»
of the traders themselves, as expressed In their private adjudica-
tions amnng themselves, before referred to. Particular cases, where
the testimony warranted, were of course made exceptions to this
general rule.

The Commissioners further state that claims to the
amount of §528,219.33 were put in; that they were consid-
ered as proved to the amount of $160,886.30; and that a
pro rata distribution of .93 17-100 on a dollar was made
wliich was paid to the creditors in full of their demands.
"Before payment, the register was submitted to the Indians
in council, and approved by them in writing".

This was the method ueed to determine the claims of the
traders. It does not, however, seem to have been satisfactory
to Mr. Merrell as shown in his account, nor to Mr. Thos. P.
Street, a trader at the Prairie, who in a letter to Major
Hitchcock, June 3, 1839, explains the method as he under-
stood it.

Dear Sir:
Having seen a communication from D. M. Broadhead to the

Secretary of War, dated 16th February last, in relation to the con-
duct of the Commissioners sent out to settle the claims against the
Winnebago Indians, under the treaty with said Indians of 1st No-
vember, 1837,—in which my name is used disparagingly—I beg leave
to trouble you with the following communication setting forth the
reasons which induced Mr. B. to attack me.

Shortly after the arrival of Mr. Broadhead and the Commissioners
last summer, and a few days after the Commissioners had com-
menced examining claims, Mr. Botlvin, who was an Intimate friend
of Broadheact's, came to me and asked me who I had employed to
attend to my ciaim before the Commissioners. I replied that I
should attend to it myself. He said, you had better have some one,
a lawyer, to do it for you, and I think you had better employ Mr. B. ;
he is well acquainted with the Commissioners, and will be of great
service to you in getting your claim allowed. Accordingly I spoke
to Mr. B. to attend to the claim. He told me he would and charge
me a mere trifle for it. Mr. B. then went on to say to me that he
had several claims confided to his management and should bring
them before the Commissioners last or after all others had been
examined, that the Commissioners would be governed in their ad-
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jiiiUcalions of claims by the report of J. W. Edmonds; that he had
been furnished with a copy of such report, and was the only person
in the place who bad such information; that the counsel employed
by other claimants were not in possession of the above information,
and therefore wotild not know the kind of proof and other jjartioiilars
necessary to sustain their claims; the object of which communica-
tion was to prove to me that he was the only person possessed of
the necessary information to prepare and sustain a claim before
the Commissioners. an<i Ihat I had not been badly a<ivised nor acted
unwisely in employing bini. I then went to work and made out a
claim against the Indians from my l)ooks and memorandums and
attached an affidavit stating that the account was just and correct.
This paper I filed with the Commissioners, and was promlseii that
due notice would be given me of the time when !he claims would
he taken up.

Some W'.-ekñ afterwards Gen. C. and Mr. B. called me into the
sireet before Tainlor's Hotel and told me it would be necessary for
me to present my books of original entry for the inspection of the
Commissioners. This I at first declined doing, stating as a reason
that I had filed an account which was a transcript from the books.
Gen. C. then said, "If you do not present your books we can allow
you ncjthing" Upon which [ ])romised io do so. And accordingly
collected all the books and memorandums in wbich charges were
kept against the In<iiaiiñ and took them up to the Commissioners'
office onf̂  evening about 8 o'clock. I then asked Gen. C. to show
me the .^crounts which I had filed. An anxious search Ihroiigh the
office was made, but my account could not be found. I was directed
to make oui a new one, which I did on a re-examination of my
books and filed again, leaving the books in the charge of tbe Com-
missioners; there they remained some four or five days. Before I
left the ofñce this evening Mr. B. came in and commenced a private
conversation with me. in which he said, '"Street. I know one reason
why the Cnmmiseioners are opposed to your claim." I asked him
to tell me ihe reason, tbat I might have an opporlunily of explaining
the matter to them. He said he could not then, but if I would call
al bis room in the hotel at 9 o'clock next morning I should know
al'. Agreeably to this appointment I called. Mr. B. look me aside
and said ro me in substance, as weil as I can recall literally. "Street,
keep quiet, say nothing. Your claim is already allowed to tlie fuii
amount." but, said he, "Say noiliing to any one. it would be highly
improper for such a commimicalion to be made public at this time."
This was, I am certain, three and I believe four or five days before
any pubiicity was given to the decision of ihe Commissioners. I
then, and I believe afterward, asked Mr. B. if I could get my books,
or whether the Commissioners had finished their examination of
them. He said, "You will get them in time; tbe Commissi[)ners
have never even looked into them nor wili they examine them at
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all," I then felt perfectly satisfied and waited till the decision had
been made public. I fouud that Mr, Iî, was correct, my claim had
been allowed to the full aniouni, Mr, I!, and Gen. C. were very inti-
mate and very freq\iently together, and I was induced from the man-
ner and conversation of the former | to believej that he was an
especial favorite with the Commissioners and did religionsly he-
lieve that Mr. B.'s secret influence was sufficient to sustain my
claim, although other evidence was produced. It seemed Mr, B.'s
constant objfct and desire to impress on my min{i the fact of his
peculiar and strong influence with the Commissioners. And I did
thfn and now believe, and have heard the remark made by many
liersons in this place, that they felt certain all claims entrusted to
Mr. B. would be allowed, and that helief was grounded on the inti-
macy and supposed influence which existed between Broadhead and
Gen. C.

The communications made to me by Mr, B. as above stated were
entirely gratuitous and were unnecessary. All I asked of him was
to present my claim in proper shape, but I never knew of his hav-
ing done the least thing in a public manner in relation to it. I pre-
pared it myself, with the assistance of a friend (Mr. Burnett), and
I always supposed that Mr. Broadhead's secret infinence had caused
it to be allowed its full extent without any examination of the
books, which were so eagerly sought after.

Tiios. P. Street's cíüiiu as shown by the cotnmissiouers'
list wag Sl.*10S.i*S. and wns allowed in full to tíos. ^Moore,
attorney in ffiot. Mr. Moort' was Mr. Street's partner and
was sutler at Ft, (.'rawford, Latt-r jjapers siiow that .Mr.
Street ¡laid ]:irca(llienii lifty dollars for his services. This
was a small fee couipart-d with otliers demanded and îliere
ninst have been ether reasons for gronting the nccotiiit in
full. In the first place lus account was carefully kepi and
could be used as evidence in a future complaint H^ainst the
commission ( it was tij satisfy themselves uf this, perhaps,
that they asked for his books); second, his partner was the
army sutler; third, liis father was an Indian agent, well
ktiown for his honesty, and at that very time with Commis-
sioner Fleming fit Rock Island adjudging similar debts,
against tlie Sacs and Foxes under the treatv of October 21.

IS:Î7.

It was perhaps natural that Thos. Street should fee
Broadhead, but Agent Street did not like the part Jiis sou
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had played in this afFair; he could not bear even the shadow
of a doubt cast upon his family honor. Major Hitchcock
refers to Mr. Street's feelings in tbe following letter:

ST. LOUIS, June 11. 18ai).
Dear General:

I Bend you a copy of the letters I have sent to Mr. Crawford in
relation to you. At Piairie du Chien I heard the most insolent lan-
guage from Dousman and I thought I could not do less than caution
Mr. Crawford on the subject.

As Thomas told me he paid Broadhead Î50 I could not make out
my letter without alluding to the transaction in the way I did. You
were mistaken In the case and I could only understand it as 1 have
expressed It In the letter. These matters will always have some
unpleasant features and we must get along with them the best
way we can. Pray, how did you understand that Thomas had not
feed Broadhead? Have I explained it correctly, that the matter
was a secret and that Thomas held it until Broadhead attacked
him?

But the greatest stir was made over tbe balf-breed claims.
In regard to them the report says;

•Entire strangers in the country, having no knowledge of the
mixed breeds, of their present or previous standing, ignorant of
their history, so far as reiated in any manner to the discharge of
this delicate duty, and limited in time, we were thrown for informa-
tion upon the community of Prairie du Chien, and such strangers as
happened to he there, and who had some knowledge of the service
and standing of the Indians of mixed blood, for all information to
govern us in the distribution of this large fund. . . .

The safest course, they thought, would be to call upon the most
respectable and disinterested of the old settlers, to make a classi-
fied list of the half-breeds, according to their own knowledge of
their merits; and upon this list, after an examination of the proofs,
to make their decision This course was adopted, the result sub-
mitted to and ratified by the Indians in council and the commis-
sioners have every reason' to believe gave universal satisfaction.

The commissioners say tbat they called upon "tbe most
disinterested of the old Bettlers". According to their own
witnesses in the trial before the House of Representatives
Committee in 1839, four of them, Dousman, Rolette, Lawe
and Irwin, were American Fur Company agents. Of these

"Ex. Doc. 25th CODS., 3d Ssss., p. 19.
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Lawe and Irwin were at Green Bay. Lockwood was a mer-
chant and Justice of the Peace at Prairie du Chien nnd H.
S. Baird of Green Bay was Attorney General for the Terri-
tory of Wisconsin. The fifth person on their list was John
H. Kinzie, former agent for the Winnebagoes and but for
his previous partiality to the American Fur Company was a
disinterested person. In my previous article I have empha-
sized the fact that Mr. Street was one of the few Indian
agents who dared to oppose the American Fur Company.
Of these witnesses cited by the Commissioners, Baird and
Kinzie, judging from all accounts, were not present during
the sitting.

The report goes on to say:

No bonds being required from guardians or trustees, the Com-
missioners determined, after consultation on the subject, that it
would not be proper to require them; and in many cases it is pre-
sumed they could not have been given without great trouble and
delay, in consequence of the distance at which some of the parties
lived from the place of sessions, and if security had been required,
the commissioners could have no knowledge of its competency.

In all, or nearly so, both of debt and half-breed cases, the parties
appeared by attorneys in fact, whose powers were reguiarly exe-
cuted and filed with the secretary. No doubt existed in the minds
of the commissioners that the parties had a right ihus to appear
and give full authority not only to attend to the cases before the
board, but to receive from them the allowance awarded. In the case
of the traders, we presume no doubt can be or is entertained, and
in the case of the half-breeds, wbo are understood to be free citi-
zens in Wisconsin Territory, it appears to the commissioners there
can be little doubt. If the claims had belonged to white citizens,
of education and standing in society, it would not have been at all
a matter of surprise that they should appear by attorney, it being
certainly tbe most convenient and best course. The business,
though not conducted according to the strict course of courts of jus-
tice, was, nevertheless, governed necessarily by prescribed forms,
with which the half-breeds would not generally be presumed to be
familiar, although some of them were tolerably educated, and most
of them highly respectable. Their right so to appear was not in
any case questioned, and the instruction did not forbid it. The
powers, therefore, were in all cases respected, and the business
better conducted, as the commissioners conceived, than it couid
have been in any other manner. The money, too, not having arrived
in time, no course remained but to give drafts; and many of the
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half-breeds not living on the spol, to whom couiil the drafts have
been given, or who could receipt for tbem but the attorneys? If a
different cotirse had been adopted the claimants would have been
put to much timiecessary trouble and expense.*

This sotiiids rather ¡ilausibie; but wlmt dues Major Hitch-
cock, who liiid been several years slittioned in the Indian
country, and most of the time at Prairie du Cliien, say"?

To tinderKtand Qiore clearly the position oP tlic accusers in
tliis case, let us go back in our narrative tu the point where the
Distribtiting Agent for the AVar Department UHB sent tlie
money for the Winiiebago luilf-lireeils to I'rairie dti Chien
by his personal friend. Mr. Street left St. Louis (October
111. and arrived at Ft. Crawford alotit November 1. He
states in a later letter that it was tlie day after the commis-
sioners had left. They nowhere state at what time tliey
closed their sitting. Mr. Murray in his later defense says
that they were nearly a week going to St. Louis and that
they were there November I». ^Tajor Hitchcock says that
they arrived the afternoon of November 5, and tlmt the samt;
day by another boat Lieut. McKi.ssack. the paymaster at I'''t.
Crawford, came with the money, and also he received by tliat
boat a letter from Mr. Street dated November 1. in uhicli he
explains his disposition of the trust placed in him. This is
ttie first intimation the Distributing Agent had tliat things
were not straight at Prairie du Chien. The condition tliat
Mr. Street found wlien lie arrived is stated later in a letter
to Major Hitchcock, dated February 4, 1S.3Í'. He says tliat
when he returned home November 8,f a Mr. Campbell, who
married Sophia Palen one of the half-breed beneficiaries of
tlie treaty, came to his house and inquired what pfirt his wife
was to have of the §100,000, and when it was tu be paid.
Street answered, " I have just got home, and know nothing
of the business done by the commission. They left here, I
learn, yesterday. I brought up the §100,000 froni Major

•Es. Doc, 2.")tli Ccnfî., ;>d Sess.. jj. 20.
fTIiirf muit. bii a mistnko as his letter to iluj. Hitclic:>cl¡ cvidentlj" written

ot Ilia arrival, is dat^d November 1.
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Hitchmck to Dr. Reynoldri, nnd tlie money is now liere in
iliu rouni. Dr. Reynolds ia at St. Peters, The money will
I presume be paid on his rettirn. as I have sealed letters from
Major Hitclicock to him".

Mr. Street's paper says further:

Mr. Dousman then came in and asked me if 1 bad lirou^-lit the
$100,1X1(1 tor the relations of the Winnebago Indians. 1 replied I
had and made the same statement aboin Dr. Reynolds. Mr. D. then
set to to persuade me to take or send (he money hack to St. Louis.
I utterly refused to do either, on any consideration, anri remarked it
would be useless, for the money is to he paid at this place to îhe
half and quarter bloods. Mr. D. said the relations had mostly all
sold their dividends, and the drafts had gone along wirh the com-
missioners, the day before, to Sr. Louis, I replied, I don't think
the orders of half and quarter-breeds will be paid. The money will
only be paid to ihe relations and fiuardians, who will be required ta
give bonds and security. That I could not understand how the
dividends of minors could be paiii to order; who can give the order,
and who acis for them? Mr. D. answered, "AH that has been seHled
by the commissioners, and all we want of you is to get the money
to St. Louis."

I then remarked uijon whar Mr. Campbell said of classifica-
tion of claims, that they were in three classes—Nos. 1, 2 and 3'
—and Xo. 1 was the largest amount and No. ;j the smallest, and
ye; some of half-blood were in No. 3 and some of quarter in No. 1.
I said the Indians declared their intention was to get the names of
aîl their relations of not less than quarter blood, anil divide the
$100,000 between them equally, share and share alike. Mr. D. re-
plied, the commissioners acted by the special order of Ihe Secre-
tary of War, wbo directed the classification as it was made.

I then remarked, I wiii get rid of this business myself, but 1 do
not think the money will be paid to attorneys of haif-breetls. I
can, with an open letter in my possession, band Ihe money over to
the quartermaster, Lieut. McKissack.

I went with the letiçr and money immediafely to the fort, and
handed them over to Mr. Me. Mr. D. and Gen. Itrook came into the
quartermaster's office while I was paying over ihe money; and
Gen. B. yemarked to Mr. M. that he would give him an order to go
to St. Louis that he might take thai money down to meet the drafts
that had gone. . . .

Mr. Canipliell expressed much dissatisfaction at the amount
granted him ($G00), and still more at the charge of half hy Mr.
Dousman, and persisted that he had given no authority to any man
to receive it for him. How be and Mr. D. ultimately settled it. I

VoL, VlI-9,
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know not. Mr. Campbell returned home, where I can. by inquiring,
know more of that transaction.

That in the case of Mr, Peon, he (Peon) had a claim for goods
formerly sold the Winnebagoes, amounting to $700, That by advice
of Mr. D. and Mr. Boilvin, he employed Mr. Broadhead to advocate
his claim, as he was assured if he did not employ Mr. B. he conld
get nothing. On the claim lie was allowed the full claim of $700.
Similar remarks were made to several other claimants; and they
were assured that if they did not employ B. they could get nothing.
That these opinions were well known to be circulated by the com-
missioners I am constrained to believe, from the concurring opinion
of so many persons,

A slip of paper was left in the commissioners' quarters purport-
ing to be part of a docket of cases of applications as half and quar-
ter breeds, and that on said docket every application to which Broad-
head is marked as counsel for claimant, the claim is in the first
class, and at the highest rate allowed. This paper is now here
preserved.

Another fact. Mr. Broadhead said that Gen, Cameron and him-
self had brought on $40,000 or $60,000 with them. Mr. P. |Feather-
stonebaugh], the secretary, also said the commissioners did not
care whether the disbursing agent paid their private draft, for that
the commissioners had brought on a large amount of money, and
the money paid out here was on a bank of which Gen. C. is presi-
dent. What could all the money be brought here for by the com-
missioners and Mr. Broadhead?

Jos. M. STBEET.

The natural answer to this last question was that the
money was to buy up the half-breed claims at half price.
Although, as shown by a later report, February lG, 183U, they
objected to Major Hitchcock paying in Missouri State Bank
notes instead of specie; they came prepared to buy the claims
and did buy them with notes on a bank in Pennsylvania of
which one of the commissioners waa cashier. Surely State
Bank of Missouri money was more suitalile for transactions
on the Mississippi river.

Later the half-breed Peon made the following affidavit:
JAN. 2,1839.

Mr. Broadhead first offered me six hundred dollars for the claims
of my two children, stating they were only quarter-blood, and would
be allowed very little. I refused to take it; but said, after being
repeatedly urged, that I would sell for eight hundred t$SOO) dollars.

Col. Broadhead finally agreed to give it. The action of the com-
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missioners, however, in reference to my children, entitled them to
ihirty-two hundred dollars. On hearing this, I became dissatisfied,
and went to TVIr. Broadhead, informing him what I had been assured,
when he agreed to give me three hundred dollars more, making
eleven hundred which my children received, instead of thirty-two
hundred dollars.

My son's name is John Baptiste, and daughter's Angélique.
JOHN BT. PEON, {his X mark)

Done in presence of
Jos. M. Street, Ind. Agent.

D. Lowry.*

Frederick Oliva, who woe a half-breed, stated to Mr. Street
that Mr. Broadhead and Mr. Boilvin, came to see him two
or three times, on the subject of purchasing his half-breed
claims. When he finally told them that he did not wish to
sell his claim, but would abide the decision of the commis-
sioners; upon which he was solicited by Mr. Broadhead to
manage or present his claim, for which Mr. Broadhead would
•charge him ten per cent., assuring Oliva that if he did not
receive $1.500 he would not charge him anything for his
trouble. Oliva consented and received a draft for $1,500 for
which he paid Mr. Broadhead $150.00. Mr. Street further
states from information gained from Oliva that Antoine
•Grignon and John Roy sold their claims to Broadhead for
$800 eacb. The treaty donations gave them $2,000 each
and the papers of the commißsioners show that Broadhead
received certificates for $l,ßOO for eacb of these claimants.

In his defense, dated February 14,183Ü, Mr. Murray says:
On our passage down the Mississippi at the rapids of Des Moines

(where our boat was detained) we were overtaken by a boat in
•which Lieut. McKissack, quartermasLer at Ft. Crawford, and in
charge of the half-breed money, was a passenger. It was then and
there proposed to me, and I suppose also to Gen. Cameron, that the
drafts should be paid at once. This proposition was made me by
Mr. Broadhead. I had no authority as a commissioner to control
this matter. But did I advise it? Mr. Broadhead, if called on, will,
[ am sure, do me the justice to say that I advised against it, upon
the ground that it was not a proper place for the transaction of
such business; and thai, as the drafts were drawn on Major Hitch-
cock, he had better pay them.'t

•Ex. Doc,, 2.'ith Cong., 3d Seas., p . 57,
+Ex. Doc., 25th OoQB., 3d Sese., p . 98.
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This shows that Mr. Murray had some scruples against
barefaced robbery.

Before detailed newB of these transactions could have
reached Major Hitchcock and as soon as the commissioners
arrived in St. Louis, the Distributing Agent writes to the
Commissioner of Indian Affairs as follows:

OETICB MIL. DIS. AGT. INDN. DEPT.

SAINT LOUIS, Novr. 6,1838.
T. HASTILY CBAWFOBD, Esq.,

Comr. of Indn. Affrs.
I have been compelled from a sense of duty to suspend payment

of the Winnebago half-breed money until I can receive your in-
structions.

I was directed to pay the half-breeds; on the "requisitions of the
commissioners." The usage of the Department, under similar in-
structions, as understood by me, has been for the persons author-
ized to make requisitions to require the payment to be made to the
proper claimant. (Form No. 1, Rev'd. Reg's. No. 3.) If the claimant
is a white man and disposes of his claim, it is his business and his
right so to do is not disputed. In the case of the Indians tbe rule
is different, the 31st par. Rev'd. Reg's. No. 3 being explicit on this
point.

Haif-breeds are neither white men nor Indians as expressed
in their name—and the proper treatment of them is neither defined
In the regulations nor perhaps established by usage. If it is said
they are not Indians and must therefore be treated as white men, ¡t
may more plausibly be said they are not white men and ought
therefore to be treated as Indians, as they unquestionably bavo
been in almost all treaties containing stipulations in their favor—
(Art. 1st treaty 4th Aug., 1824, Sacs and Foxes; Arts. 6 and 11 treaty
June 3d, 1825, Kansas; Arts. 3 and 6 treaty Oct. 6, 1838, Miamis;
Art. 3 treaty 23, Oct., 1826; Art. 4th treaty Dec. 29, 1S38; Art. 2(1
treaty Aug. 29, 1823, Ottawas, Chippewa. &c., last part ot the
Art.; Art. 2d treaty 18 Feb., 1833, Ottawas, &c., &c.. and especially
the spirit of the 6th Art. treaty 28th March, 1836, Ottawas and
Chippewas.)

It is against all knowledge, although there may be exceptions,
to suppose the half-breeds are acquainted with the nature of powers
of attorney and bills of exchange, and to discuss the questions con-
cerning them upon a presumption of their moral responsibility to
our laws and usages is, to my mind, an absurdity.

Premising thus much, I have to state that the fund for the pay-
ment of the Winnebago half-breeds was not received by me until
the 9th ulto. I availed myself of the first boat and first opportunity
(which occurred on the 16th) and sent it from this city to Prairie
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du Chien to be paid to the persona whom the commissioners might
designate as the proper claimants.

But the commissioners had decided to require payment, not to
the individual claimants, but almost exclusively to third persons,
and principally to a monied man who traveled from Philadelphia
with a large amount of Philadelphia bank notes (doubtless for some
lawful purpose), upon his procuring pmvei-a of attorney. I do not
wish to question the motives of tbis monied man in following the
commissioners to Prairie du Cbien with bis bank notes, but I
cannot sufficiently express my regret tbat the late date at which
the half-breed money was remitted has given him the opportunity
of purchasing, witb his rags, the claims of a miserable body of
ignorant balf-breeds totaliy unacquainted with tbe nature of the
business in which he was engaged.

Another class of persons in whose favor the commissioners have
required payments are called guardians and trustees, not one o£
whom has been required to give bond for tbe faithful disposition of
the money.

To pay these people without'requiring bonds will scarcely be
even a form of payment and to suppose that 10 per cent of the
money thus paid, can ever benefit tbe proper claimants is to defy all
experience.

The commissioners who are now In town, observe on tbis point
that they had no instructions to require bonds and that therefore
their doing so "wouid not be legal," but I do not see the sequence.

One among these selected trustees was arrested for debt in
tbis city last spring—another I bave been creditably informed dared
not come here on account of his debts, and a tbird is a most
notorious gambler. Two of these I venture to say could not borrow
a thousand dollars to save them from the county jail.

It Is from no disposition to retain the money in my hands that I
suspend this payment I had already sent it to Prairie du Chien,
and my sending to the Sioux half-breeds their hundred and ten
thousand dollars without instructions as reported by my letter of
the 9th Sept. will show my readiness to disburse tbe public money
when I am satisfied witb the occasion, but the well known and enor-
mous frauds upon balf-breeds of other tribes impose upon me a duty
in this case, and I cannot pay tbis money to the Winnebago half-
breed claimants without instructions based upon a knowiedge of
the circumstances doubtless unexpected to the Department, grow-
ing out of the fact that the money was not at Prairie du Cbien until
the commissioners had closed their labours.

I enclose berewitb a list of claimants as ascertained by the
commissioners witb tbeir requisitions attached to it, which I re-
quest may be returned to me. I also send copies of individual orders
or drafts which will explain the manner of receiving payment.

I cannot close this letter, long as it is, without observing that
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the Department thought proper to indicate a distinction between the
claims of white persons and those of half-breeds, by paying the
former in Washington, while the money was sent for the latter. It
appears to me the distinction thus drawn was not without meaning,
extending as it did to all the tribes on the Upper Mississippi.

Since writing the foregoing I have seen and conversed with the
commissioners. They urge that they were expected to distribute the
money and that they only are responsible. I answered, that their
instructions were given under the presumption that the money
would be on the spot to be distributed by them to the proper claim-
ants; but the money not being there presented a contingency not
anticipated and that in point of fact their duties could not be exe-
cuted and should have been determined on the knowledge of that
contingency.

I have also seen some of the claimants, one of whom has held
out a threat of protest—but this was merely done to test the strength
of my determination.

I hope, in considering this matter you will do me the Justice to
bear in mind that I have already shown my willingness to pay the
money by sending it to Prairie du Chien.

I have remarked to the claimants that I presumed the drafts
would ultimately be paid, hut that In my heiief they were given
under circumstances not contemplated in the instructions of the
commissioners and that the circumstances were of a character tjiat
required a higher sanction for the payment than my own, and, in
short, that the Department could bear better than myself the re-
Bponslbility of payment.

Very Respectfully,
Yr. Obt. Servt.

E . A. HiTCHOOOK,

Maj. M. D. Agt.
P. S. The importance of the list of claimants referred to has

induced me to retain it until I can prepare a copy, which I wili trans-
mit tomorrow. E. A. H.*

From this letter it will be seen that Major Hitchcock
objected to paying the claims becatise they were paid not to
the half-breeds but to an attorney. The whole arrangement
appeals to him as contrary to the spirit of the treaty, which
was to pay the money into the hands of the half-lweeds
themselves.

The boat which brought down Lieut. McKiesack brought
several citizens from Prairie du Chien and also a letter from

. Doc., 25th (long.. 3d Sess., p. 1.
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Agent Street. Between the evening of the 5th, when Major
Hitchcock talked to General Cameron and Mr, Murray in
the hotel and refused on general principles to pay the drafts,
and November 8, he had had time to learn more of the dis-
satisfaction at the Prairie over the award of the commission-
ers. Accordingly he sends another letter to Commissioner
Crawford at Wasliington.

OFFICE MII , . D I S . AOT. IND. DBPT.

SAINT LODI8, NOV. 8, 1838.
T. HAKTIBY CBAWFOBD, Esq.,

Comr, of Indn. Affrs.
Sir: It ffas not my intention, as certamly as it was not ray wish,

to occupy your time with another communication on the snhject of
the Winnebago half-breed money, but as new circumstances come
to my knowledge I must write to do justice to the subject, to my-
self and to others.

I have crossed the purposes of a band of greedy speculators and
brought upon myself the maledictions of many who will pretend an
infinite degree of sympathy for the very half-breeds whom they
have cheated and almost robbed by what will boldly be put forth as
a legal proceeding. Be the consequences what they may, I rejoice
that I have tor a few weeks at least suspended the execution of this
business.

I have now to inform you, that I know an instance where a man.
selected by the commissioners as a "trustee," received in that ca-
pacity an order for ?l,800 who has in this city offered it in payment
of a note of his own due last summer and which note was dishonored
and paid by his endorser and the amount suffered to remain a debt
due the endorser to this day. Can this man be worthy of the ÍMÍSÍ
reposed in him and is it possible that instructions could have con-
templated the payment of money in trust to such person, without
taking a hond for its faithful appropriation.

1 am informed and have not the slightest doubt of the fact, that
every possible exertion was made to deceive the half-breeds into the
belief that the Government was without money; was not disposed
to pay the hall-breeds; and that if they permitted the opportunity of
selling their claims to pass they would never receive anything, and
that one claim of $1,800 was actually thus sold for $400. Can such
transactions pass in review without condemnation because it may
wear the color of law. It is monstrous, and, if lawful, the law is a
scourge to the innocent.

It will be urged upon you that actual claimants have been refused
money in their proper persons and subjected to great losses. I am
not so blind as not to see the use intended to be made of a iarce en-
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acted in my office when an artful "attorney in fact" and "trustee"
brought into my presence a half-breed named Oliva—one of five
only who received requisitions in their own names—for the purpose
of making ¡i case upon which to complain of hardship. I request
you to examine the list of claimants as shown on the copy forwarded
and you will see but five of the whole body have had tbe wit and
strength to withstand the influence brought to bear by the cupidity
of white men and receive certificates in their own name. Oliva, one
of the five referred to, will not suffer. The wit that secured him at
Prairie du Chien will not abandon him here, and he is the only one
that I have heard of as having come here except by "attorney in
fact" or by "trustee."

It is in vain to attempt to smother the grossness of this proceed-
ing. Why were not the certificates of claim simply recorded in
favour of the original and proper claimant, if the commission must
needs go through the form of payment? Was it because such cer-
tificates were not drafts? Was it because the "attorneys in fact"
could noT, press their claims under purchase with half the show of
right they now pretend?

I beg of you to examine attentively the list of claimants for-
warded yesterday. You will see the names of but five original claim-
ants reported as having received orders on me. This was known to
the commissioners, who, when I suggested the propriety of making
payment at Prairie du Chien, immediately informed me that claims
for nearly the whole amount were already in this city. I grieve to
say it, but the impulse is irresistible and I must express my ap-
prehension that the form of payment was acquiesced in for the se-
curity of the purchaser, and not for the benefit of the claimant, and
that in this proceeding the commissioners yielded their duty of
guardianship of the half-breeds to a seeming compliance with the
forms of law for the protection of "attorneys in fact,"

There has been great eloquence wasted in an argument to prove
that the proper claimants are scattered and beyond the reach of the
paying agents of the Indian Department, but this is all a waste of
words. If they live with Indians Ihey can be found with them. If
with white men, their blood will distinguish and publish them; and
I for one, as a Dis, Agt., do not thank the commissioners for an
attempt to save me from the performance of a duty appertaining lo
my situation. If "attorneys in fact" can find the claimant, so can
the officers of the Indian Department. If it be said that they have
paid the claimants already, and are not expected to find them, the
assertion truly characterizes the whole proceeding and shows in
what manner these "attorneys in fact" became invested with the
confidential trust they have filed with the commissioners.

The powers of attorney were purchased, and for the most part
by an utter stranger, a man entirely unknown to the half-breeds
and having not the shadow of claim upon their confidence but
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through the contents of his purse. The commissioners inform me
that they have no knowledge of the sale of claims, yet they inform
me that the claims were nearly all here. In the first assertion they
must speak in a technical sense and can only mean that the powers
of attorney do not show the sale; while in the second, they know,
in another sense, all about the claims; where they are and how they
were procured. I do not wish to be disrespectful to the commis-
sioners, but I must think they were not selected at a great distance
from the scene of their duties at $5* per day at congress traveling
days, and their expenses all paid besides, to act with two species of
knowledge and shield themselves from a high moral responsibility
by "keeping the law on their side." I was officially informed that
their sittings were to have been held in the Indian country where
all the expenses were to be paid by the Government, in order to se-
cure justice to the claimants and drafts on the Government for up-
wards of ?5,000 are now in motion besides the per diem due the
commissioners, on account of expenses incurred by their commis-
sion, and yet by a seeming fatality the half-breeds have been cheated
and abused under their eyes and they "don't know it."

I recommend that payment be ordered to the original claimants;
that the list reported by the commissioners be regarded only as a
schedule like that embraced on page 588 of the Book of "Treaties to
1837," except that "trustees" be paid on giving proper bonds, and
the half-breeds can then refund the amounts advanced to them by
"attorneys in fact."

Very Respectfully,
E. A. HITCHCOCK,

Maj. M. D. Agt.

P. S. I have just been informed that the claimants at Prairie du
Chien, on bearing that the money for them had actually been sent
to the Prairie, contrary to assurances given them, sent to this place
a protest against the proceedings of the commissioners to stay the
money in my hands, and it has been intimated from a respectable
source that the agent had been bought to silence. Time may dis-
close something on this subject important to the honor of the
Government.

November 10, 1838, Jos. M. Street writes to Major
Hitchcock as follows:

You will hereafter learn the course pursued by the commis-
sioners. I have no leisure or heart to detail the shameful and cor-
rupt course represented to me. Lockwood and Dousman, in con-
junction with a Mr. Broadhead (the latter with the commissioners,
and bragged that he had made $60,000 out of claims and half-breeds),
decided the cases, and the commissioners only confirmed their acts

"'iDstmctlone of the War Bept. show that $8.Oo per day was paid.
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officially. Let any man of common sense and honesty look at the
treaty, and then place the half-breeds in classes, if they can; and
that, too, has no relation to half or quarter-blood, but they are
classed by favor. A quarter-blood is the first class and a baif in

.the tbird class. If the case was represented by Mr. Broadhead, or
Mr. Dousman, or Lockwood, strongly, it was in tbe first or second
class; if not advocated by either of these potent characters, the case
went in the third class. On expressing my surprise at any classifica-
tion under the language of tbe treaty, Mr. Dousman replied that
special instructions were given to the commissioners to make the
classification.

You ?ill no doubt hear from other sources of the conduct of the
commissioners, as represented to me. Not one cent ought to be
paid upon such decisions. Had the commissioner under the Sac and
Fox treaty been guilty of such conduct, I am confident he would not
have been permitted to proceed. I bad some idea of their conduct
from claims sent against the Sacs and Foxes, and promptly rejected.

A month later he writes:
In the case of the half and quarter-breeds, much more depended

on the employment of Mr. B.; yet a man of plain common sense and
common honesty wouid declare that there was no need of a lawyer,
for it must alone depend, under the treaty, upon one simple fact—
whether they were related to the Winnebagoes as near as half or
quarter blood. If they were, they were entitled to a share; if not,
they ought to be wholly excluded. Tbe only question that would
arise under the treaty was between tbe amounts to be granted half
and quarter-breeds; wbetber half-breeds should draw the same as
quarter-breeds, or if haif-breeds would not be entitled to full shares,
and quarter-breeds to half shares. But no one. from reading tbe
treaty, will say that tbe commissioners, or the Indians who made the
treaty, intended anything but the equal division amongst all their
relations not further off than quarler-blood, of $100,000, share and
share alike. Thé idea of any classification of the relations was
never thought of by the Indians; and a classification whicb has
grown out of this measure, giving to a quarter-blood a full share, and
to a half-blood less tban half the amount given to the quarter, is
monstrous, and to the Indians, and especially tbose who made the
treaty, unsatisfactory. True, in some cases, tbe infiuence operating
upon the Indians, and the constant stream of intoxicating drinks,
freely given, to keep up tbat infiuence, prevent anything from being
said; still the language of the treaty remains, and gives color to the
charges from every quarter, of partiality in ihe classification of the
relations of the Indiawt; and if inquired into, it is found to rest, as
I have said, upon tbe fact of the employment of Mr. Broadhead. If
Mr. B. was well feed to bis satisfaction, tbe relation was placed in
the first claas, and entitled to the largest share; if not so well feed.
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in the second class, with a proportionate deduction of dividend; and
if not feed at all, in the third class with the smallest dividend. This
classification, too, had no relation to blood, whether of half or quar-
ter, but was graduated by the fee paid to Mr. Broadhead.

Long before any claimant could understand the fate of his claim;
Mr. Broadhead could tell all about it; and in some cases, the claim-
ants, by employing him when their claims were reported to them to
be rejected for want of proof, got them allowed by employing Mr. B.
Some, too, who were informed by the commissioners that most of
their claims were rejected, and but a small part granted, gave Mr.
B. his full fee and found their claims confirmed at the largest
amount they claimed, ultimately. In most cases Mr. B.'s fee was
such a. per cent upon the amount allowed, and secureö to him out of
the claim.

The impression has ohtained currency here, that the commis-
sioners brought Mr. Broadhead with them, upon a bargain, to share
profits obtained through him of the claimants and half-breeds; and
that they have made at least $20,000 apiece; that is, Mr. B. declared
his fees amounted to upward of ?60,000. Persons have calculated
differently, and think his fees near $80,000. These fees, too, were
as good as cash in hand, being a per centum upon claims and
shares. . . .

In the case of the claims, to have the advocacy of Mr. Broadhead,
Mr. Dousman, and Mr. Lockwood, was sufiicient to ensure the pass-
age of the claim. And Mr. Boilvin was a most potent advocate, and
doorkeeper for the commissioners frequently; indeed, most fre-
quently they acted with closed doors; and Mr. Boilvtn In most cases
acted as doorkeeper and turned gentlemen back who were coming
into the commissioners' office on business with them. Was it not
strange, passing strange, to have a board decide on the claims and
report to the commissioners (who in all cases confirmed their de-
cision) composed of two traders, themselves having large claims,
and one of them the largest trader with those very Indians? To me
it was astonishing. As I said in my former letter, if the commis-
sioner at Rock Island had apftointed Davenport or any of the traders
to examine claims, there would have been euch discontent that I
should h0ve expected that the proceedings would have been forcibly
stopped.

Concluded in next number.

With the blessing of God, I will war and war continu-
ally against the abandonment to slavery of a single foot of
soil now. consecrated to Freedom.—James W. Grimes.




